

**INTERNATIONAL ENERGY AGENCY** 

Implementing Agreement for Co-operation in the Research, Development and Deployment of Wind Turbine Systems Task 11

## 58<sup>th</sup> IEA Topical Expert Meeting

## **Sound Propagation Models and Validation**

Royal Inst of Technology, Stockholm, Sweden Organised by: Vattenfall





Scientific Co-ordination: Sven-Erik Thor Vattenfall AB, 162 87 Stockholm, Sweden

Disclaimer:

Please note that these proceedings may only be redistributed to persons in countries participating in the IEA RD&D Task 11.

The reason is that the participating countries are paying for this work and are expecting that the results of their efforts stay within this group of countries.

The documentation can be distributed to the following countries: Canada, Denmark, European Commission, Finland, Germany, Ireland, Italy, Japan, Korea, Mexico, the Netherlands, Norway, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, United Kingdom, United States.

After one year the proceedings can be distributed to all countries, that is June 2010.

Copies of this document can be obtained from: Sven-Erik Thor Vattenfall AB 162 87 Stockholm Sweden <u>sven-erik.thor@vattenfall.com</u>

For more information about IEA Wind see www.ieawind.org

## CONTENTS

#### IEA RD&D Wind Task 11

#### Topical Expert Meeting #58

#### Sound Propagation Models and Validation

		Page
1.	Different approaches on noise limits Sabine Schulz	1
2.	A critical look at the wind turbine noise regime in Norway Sigurd Solberg	3
3.	Measuring and calculating turbine noise immission in the Netherlands Seppe Hoogzaad	7
4.	<b>Wind Turbine Sound Issues in Finland</b> Carlo Di Napoli	17
5.	Wind Farms Noise - Brief Overview of Assessment and Prediction Methodology in the UK Rob Shepherd	25
6.	Nord2000 for Wind Turbine Noise predictions Bo Søndergaard	41
7.	Long range sound propagation over a sea surface Karl Bolin, Ilkka Karasalo	65
8.	Using advanced noise propagation modeling programs in windfarm design Denis Siponen	73
9.	Wind farm noise measurements and residual noise estimation by modeling Roberto Ziliani	79
10.	Sound emission and sound propagation in forest terrain	91
11.	Sound propagation models and validation Conny Larsson	13
12.	Acoustic Noise Measurement Chuichi Arakawa	25
13.	Models of natural background noise and masking of wind turbine noise f Karl Bolin	47
14.	Summary of Meeting	53
15.	List of Participants and Picture	57

Blank page

# **Different approaches on noise limits** Sabine Schulz

This presentation is not included in the proceedings.

Blank page













## 3 possible regimes

Simple, with safety margins: Use downwind calculation only.

Seek significant differences:

- Assess the uncertainty in the calculations
- Do more favourable assessment in the case of clear differences only.

Comprehensive, new basis:

- Assess the annoyance studies,
- Investigate background noise in a selection of terrain types.
- Develop a method for terrain shielding assessment,
- Select a better founded recommended noise level and
- Test wind type differences by statistical significance.





































Blank page



### Wind Turbine Sound Issues in Finland

Carlo Di Napoli Pöyry Energy Oy, Finland

Pöyry Energy Oy Wind Turbine Sound Issues in Finland

### PÖYRY - Global expert in consulting and engineering

- We offer our clients in-depth industry expertise, innovative solutions and lifecycle engagement
- 17 000 projects annually
- 8 000 employees in 49 countries
- Project experience in more than 100 countries







#### Global trends driving the growth of wind energy

- National renewable energy targets
- Lack of other energy or renewable energy sources
- Growing importance of security of energy supply
- Increasing volatility of fossil fuel prices
- Overall awareness on environmental issues
- Employment and local development
- Improving cost competitiveness
- Technology development

Pöyry Energy Oy Wind Turbine Sound Issues in Finland

3

#### Expected global growth of wind power capacity



Source: BTM World Market Update









#### Wind Turbine size



- The most popular turbine size today is 1-2MW
- 3MW size most efficient in forested and populated areas
- Different size turbines for different markets
- 5 to 6MW turbines in operation already, but in small series
- 7 to 10MW turbines on drawing boards
- · Manufacturers focusing on large series

Source: BTM World Market Update

S PŐYRY

Pöyry Energy Oy Wind Turbine Sound Issues in Finland

5

#### **Country Profile - Finland**

- Finland has many potential wind turbine sites with water "between" two onshore sites
  - 5.3 Million Inhabitants
  - About 76 000 islands
  - 56 000 lakes
  - 314 000 km of shore line
  - 465 000 Summer Cottages (85% close to shore line) => 40 dB(A) night time noise limit for recreational areas
- National Wind Atlas ready at the end of this year (2009)
- Wind power projects still very small => about 200MW of installed capacity so far, many projects with only 1-5 installed turbines, some close (< 1km) to summer cottages
- New project plans > 2000MW of capacity within next 10 years => the " big rally" is just about to start (waiting the national fare system/guaranteed price for wind power in 2010 or 2011)
- Large size project EIA's are under way



#### Wind Turbine as a Sound Source

- Amplitude Modulated Aerodynamic Sound ("AM Noise")
- Pitch Regulated Turbines Lw highly dependent on wind speed (rotational/blade length dependency)
- Potential for Structure Borne Sounds (Long and Hollow Tower)
- Occurrence of Blade Rotation Synchronizations (Wind Parks)
- Many Types of Aerodynamic Noises (basic "Whoosh", whistles, "jet sounds", etc.)
- Overall Source Level and Propagation have High Dependency on Environmental Conditions
  - Wind Speed (Lw)
  - Wind Direction => Propagation path, Directivity
  - Changes in Overall Weather (RH%, wind speed, T) => Changes in Sound Attenuation
  - Night Time Atmospheric Stability => Wind Profile + Turbulence change
    Changes in Angle of Attack (Pulsating Sounds) + BG-sounds + Sound
    Attenuation

Pöyry Energy Oy Wind Turbine Sound Issues in Finland

#### Wind Turbine as a Sound Source

- Sound Power Level dependency on wind speed (@ 10m height)
  - Sharp increase of sound level @ lower wind speeds (almost 5 dB/ m/s!)
  - Same change can be seen in some immission points (especially during low BG-sounds =>night time)
- AM Noise
  - Pulsation height can be 5-6 dB with 1 turbine
  - Pulsation Strength vs. Environmental State
  - Rapid immission level changes possible
  - Occurrence of Synchronization with wind parks => increase of pulsation strength



🗘 PŐYRY

#### Sound Propagation Models in Finland

- <u>No Specific National modelling or measurement rules for wind turbine</u> <u>noise exist</u> (yet)
  - Regional Environmental Centres "Rely" on Consultants Know How
- Simple and old guidelines for immission level measurement (mainly traffic noise and static industrial noise sources)
- Old Nordic Model (DAL32) is still used in most of the EIA Projects (excluding EU level noise mapping for large cities) => Reliable results in most standard industrial and traffic noise cases
- Short Assessment Report of Wind Turbine Noise (situation in 2006) in Finnish Language (Di Napoli)
- Old Swedish Sound Propagation Rules for Offshore Projects Created lot of Criticism Among the Wind Turbine Project Developers => estimated sound levels considered to be a lot higher than "real" situation

Pöyry Energy Oy Wind Turbine Sound Issues in Finland

9

#### Sound Propagation Models – Current Situation

- Done in every EIA phase => Environmental Centres do prefer GIS based 3D sound propagation maps with colour
- Terrain typically modelled well with modern commercial point-to-point programs (ground abs =0, "worst case")
  - > problems of estimating special weather conditions (inversion, downwind conditions)
  - many estimations based on "given" values by developers => lack of true experience on complex wind turbine sound => summary of the L<sub>Aeq</sub> sound levels only
- Weather correction possible with wind rose data (some basic instructions also given by the Ministry of Env.)
- Small projects with only few turbines not necessarily addressed to EIA process at all => simple estimation (or just guessing) of noise level at immission points => errors more possible



🗘 PŐYRY

#### Sound Propagation Models – Risks of Wrong Conclusions

- The Strict Interpretation of Given Environmental Permit ("EP")
  - If Immission levels are exceeded several times the given noise limits (after the wind park delivery, measured values), legally examined the Wind Park Owner is in an illegal position against the Authority and National Environmental Law. => Rapid Demands from Authority for reduction of noise levels
  - Changing weather conditions may create a business risk to the Owner, if EP noise limits are truly exceeded
  - Pressure to EIA authors







#### Sound Propagation Models - Future Needs

 Development of National Rules for Wind Turbine Sound Models and Immission Measurement Practices

> On-Shore, Near-Shore, Off-Shore

- Background sounds? Many areas have <30 dB(A) BG's during night time => the true loudness of AM sounds?
- Development of <u>Specific Measurement Rules</u> (windy conditions totally opposite than typical instructions of weather conditions for immission level measurements at the moment)
  - > Wind Park Project Delivery/Acceptance Phase:
    - Possible Guarantee Tests (IEC 61400-11 + Immission Points)
  - > Immission Tests after Noise Complaints!
  - > Harmonization of "results" (interpretations)
    - Reliability (true "nature" of WTN)
    - Transparency (yet still "easy-to-comment")





Blank page

# Wind Farms Noise

Brief Overview of Assessment and Prediction Methodology in the UK

#### Rob Shepherd

Hayes McKenzie Partnership Ltd Salisbury & Machynlleth

-AAA

-AAA

## **General Noise Assessment**

#### • Compare predicted noise levels with:

- Pre-existing level of specific noise (not valid for new development).
- Absolute limit (used for noise from transport, construction, minerals).
- Pre-existing background (used for noise from industrial sources).

#### Noise from wind turbine sites

- Guidance for industrial sources suggests comparison with 'background'.
- Lack of guidance for low noise environments (e.g., Scope of BS4142)
- Specific requirements for wind farms led to hybrid proposal (ETSU-R-97).
- Takes into account variation in source noise and background with wind.
- Relates to 'worst case' wind direction.

## **ETSU-R-97** Noise Limits

- X dB  $L_{A90}$  or 5 dB above 'prevailing' background, whichever is the greater.
  - X varies with time of day and other factors
    - Day-time: X=35-40
    - Night-time: X=43
    - Financially Involved: X=45
  - B/G quantified as a function of wind speed
  - B/G averaged over relevant period
    - night 2300-0700
    - 'sensitive' day-time hours (1800-2300, Sat pm and all day Sun)

-AAA

• Simplified Limit 35 dB  $L_{A90}$  for  $V_{10} < 10$  m/s





## Wind Speed

Wind speed is measured on-site, time synchronised to noise measurements.Measurements specified in ETSU to be carried out at 10m height. However it is impossible to estimate hub height wind speed with any accuracy from 10m height measurements alone.



## Wind Shear

- Speed up from reference height (10m) to hub height may be greater than predicted from ground conditions alone.
- A modification to the ETSU-R-97 methodology has been agreed such that baseline measurements are referenced to measured or 'accurately' derived hub height wind speeds.
- Wind speed for baseline noise and source noise are then corrected to 'standardised' 10m height.

-AAA







## **Derivation of Noise Limits**

-AAA

- For 'sensitive' day-time <u>and</u> night time hours:
- For each measurement location:
  - Plot noise against wind speed
  - Derive 'prevailing' b/g
  - Derive noise limits







## Prediction Recent UK Agreement

Prediction and Assessment of Wind Turbine Noise Agreement about relevant factors for noise assessment from wind energy projects

Published in the Institute of Acoustics magazine, Acoustics Bulletin March/April 2009
















## Impact Assessment

• Comparison of predicted level, over range of wind speeds, with:

-AAA

- ETSU-R-97 noise limits
- Baseline
- For worst case wind direction











## Modulation

- Planning Inspectors worried about excess amplitude modulation
- Controllable through Planning Conditions?

-AAA

- How predictable is it?
- How much of an issue is it?



Blank page



























































































Blank page

## Long range sound propagation over a sea surface



### Karl Bolin and Ilkka Karasalo

Measurements and model predictions of sound propagation in the Kalmar strait

# Outline

## **Experimental data**

Meteorological data Acoustical data

#### **GFPE-model**

DescriptionParameter selection

## Results

- Modelled soundfield
  - Downwind => sound channel, cylindrical TL
  - Upwind => upward refraction, sound shadow at ground
  - Turbulence => random scattering, shadow less pronounced
- Measured and modelled TL, laminar atmosphere
- Measured and modelled TL, turbulent atmosphere



# Sound sources - siren and loudspeaker



# Receiver–array of 8 microphones



HAMMARBY (ÖLAND)

## Available data from 15-21/6 2005 (Vindforsk project TRANS, KTH and UU )

## Sound transmission loss data

80 Hz (98 registr) 200Hz (174 registr) 400 Hz (174 registr)

## Meteorological data

u, v: 59 profiles up to height 3-4.5 km from teodolite tracking of balloons T, p, h: 19 profiles up to height 6.5-13 km from Vaisala RS80 radiosounder

# **Greens Function Parabolic**

Equation  $\phi = exp(-ik_0r)pr^{1/2}$ 

$$\begin{split} \phi(r + \Delta r, z) &= \exp\left(i\frac{\Delta r\delta k^2(z)}{2k_r}\right) \\ &\times \left[\frac{1}{2\pi}\int_{-\infty}^{\infty}(\Phi(r, k') + R(k')\Phi(r, -k'))\right. \\ &\times \exp(i\Delta r(\sqrt{k_r^2 - k'^2} - k_r))e^{ik'z}dk' \\ &+ 2i\beta\Phi(r, \beta) \\ &\times \exp(i\Delta r(\sqrt{k_r^2 - \beta^2} - k_r))e^{-i\beta z}\right] \end{split}$$

$$\Phi(r,k)=\int_0^\infty exp(-ikz')\phi(r,z')dz'$$

- K. E. Gilbert and X. Di, A fast green's function method for one-way sound propagation in the atmosphere", Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 94, 2343-2352 (1993).
- E. M. Salomons, Improved greens function parabolic equation method for atmospheric sound propagation", Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 104, 100-111 (1998).

# **GFPE model ingredients**

- Gaussian source profile
- Vertical region  $0 \le z \le 2000$  m
- Artificial absorption layer at upper boundary
- Attenuation (freq, temp, humidity, pressure)

Ground impedance (Delaney Basley)

 Turbulence (hom random fields, von Karman)
#### **GFPE** validation Geometry of experimental site Atmosphere of June 16, 20:00



#### Predicted soundfield

Downwind conditions



Upwind conditions, turbulent windfield

Upwind conditions,

laminar windfield



#### Transmission loss Laminar windfield



Predicted TL too large at upwind conditions – refractive sound shadow

 Good agreement at downwind conditions





## Transmission loss Turbulent windfield

Predicted TL at upwind conditons significantly improved







### Conclusions

Meteorological variations important
Predicted TL follows experimentally observed variations in a realistic way
Sound propagation model should include effects of turbulence

Blank page



















Blank page



















































































# Measured compared to calculated with Nord2000

Measurement point	Measured dBA re 20 μPa	Calculated at 1,5 m height dBA re 20 µPa
EM, 150 m on board on the ground	46,5	-
EM, 150 m recalculated to 1,5 m above porous ground	42,2	42,7
IM1, 330 m 1,4 m above ground	37,3	35,9
IM2, 520 m 1,5 m above ground	34,3	31,8
IM3/UW, -125 m 1,3 m above ground	45,8	43,7

19

 Visco
 Unit
 Unit



	W measured f	for point sou	rce at hub	1.10	1.1			
Calculated Nord2000 <sup>19</sup>								
	Guaranteed LW			1.8	1.8			
				1.7	1.5			
	Measurement point	Variant 1	Variant 2	Variant 3	Variant 4 = 3 but with forest acc. to ISO			
	IM 1	37,8	36,0	35,9	32,1			
	IM 2	33,6	31,7	31,8	28,1			
	ЕМ	44,4	42,6	42,7	39,2			
	UW	45,3	43,8	43,7	41,1			
22				Nytänkande me	d erfarenhet			












































# Sound propagation models and validation, IEA

METEOROLOGICAL DATA AND EXPERIMENTS Conny Larsson Department of Earth Sciences Uppsala University, Sweden





# Sound propagation models

Models for acoustic wave propagations outdoors give mean values as results, which not necessarily are correlated with health problems.

- These models are used for community planning of noise, such as localisation of wind turbines.
- The variations due to changing vertical temperature and wind gradients are in a very few cases included in such models, but then only to a very small extent.
- The models therefore do not reflect a true outdoor condition. Certain weather conditions change the sound propagation and episodes with time duration from minutes and hours up to days occur with much higher sound levels than the calculated mean values.

## Questions



Which atmospheric processes are causing such episodes?

How is their occurrence and how general are they?

How could they be included in the models so the models show the real outdoor noise level?



The most important meteorological effects on sound propagation

refraction, scattering by turbulence and atmospheric absorption.



Sound pressure rel free field, dB



Frequency, Hz



Temperature, °C





**Qaite** 

Noisy



# Daily variations





### Annual variations





UPPSALA UNIVERSITET

# Absorption

Atmospheric absorption depends on frequency, relative humidity, temperature and atmospheric pressure.

The atmospheric absorption increases with distance and becomes more important the longer sound propagation is under study.







### Variations in the input data sets!

- The atmosphere physic processes cannot be studied separately due to that they interact with each other.
- We must therefore study all these parameters simultaneously otherwise with get either under- or overestimation of the occurrence of different sound levels.



## Amount of time

Rough estimate

Higher sound levels occur from two hours before sunset until sunrise  $(14h/24h \approx 60\%)$  for land based sources.

Modified by cloudiness and wind speed.

- For low wind speeds that often exist during night close to the ground the sound propagation is governed more by temperature gradients than by wind direction.
- 0% (windy place with high amount of clouds; stormy coastal areas)

60% (little amount of clouds; inland locations)

#### For most places we can estimate the occurrence to15-30% often the time and mostly during nights.



# Displaying the sound climate

Most usual today Meteorological conditions are seldom used as input to the different prediction models.

Mean values, histograms or cumulative distributions.

No information when high sound levels occur.

Sound profiles display sound levels during the day and the year.

Much better tool for planning and decision making.

Clear information about when the high sound levels occur.















UNIVERSITET

The weather has a fundamental influence on the sound propagation outdoors. Sound sources and the weather show variances during the day and the year. The highest noise levels can disturb and we must calculate how often they occur. They must be included in the models in order to give the real outdoor noise level distribution. Blank page































	ukunama, Japan
The Earth Simulator is a highly parallel vecto	r supercomputer system of the distributed
memory type	
Peak performance/arithmetic processor	8Gflops
Peak performance/processor node	64Gflops
Shared memory/processor node	16GB
Total number of arithmetic processors	5120
Total number of processor nodes	640 40Tflops
Total main memory	10TB
14 nodes (112 Proce	ssors)
300 Million grid point	ts
99.5 % Vectorization	on ratio
1 time step: 5 seco	onds
◆ ∆ t =5x10 <sup>-4</sup> (Re. No	. ~10 <sup>6</sup> , wall resolved)
15 Non-dimensional	al time units (Noise)
<ul> <li>30,000 time steps</li> </ul>	S
1 case : 40-50 hou	Irs
































4 Background ~What is Infrasound?~ Physical Quantities Pressure Fluctuation							
I	nfrasound	Sound	Ultrasound				
Frequency 1Hz	20 <mark>Hz</mark>	2	0000Hz				
340m Wave length	17 <mark>m</mark>	(	0.017m				
Infrasound in Daily Environment Effect							
Creation		a)	Secondary noise				
Commercial Area		<u>[[</u>	Vibration of furniture				
Habitant Area	$69 (55 \sim 91)$	_					
Industrial Ares	$78 (68 \sim 89)$	b)	Influence for human bo	dv			
Around Motorway	82 (66~ 90)			-			
Around General Road	80 (67~ 97)		Feeling of oppressio	'n			
Around Railway	84 (72~100)			o Evaluation			
Around Shin-Kansen	100 (96~103)						
From A. Nakano "Infrasound "							



























# Sea noise model

- Adjust WT noise level wrt sea sound
- Measurements around the Baltic Sea, Wave buoys
- Breaker types
- Similar spectral content as underwater noise
- Semi-empiric model













# Conclusion

Vegetation noise model show good spectral and temporal resemblance to measurements



- Sea noise model could be used in coastal areas
- Not good resemblance between psycho acoustic models and tests, informational masking

EA Topical Expert Meeting, Stockholm, 5-6 May 2009

11



Summary of IEA RD&D Wind – 58th Topical Expert Meeting on:

# Sound Propagation Models and Validation

May 2009, Stockholm, Sweden

Félix Avia & Mariano Aristu, CENER Sven-Erik Thor, Vattenfall

### BACKGROUND

For the Wind Farms noise generation and emission, an important work has been performed in the last years, with the development of the existing IEC standards (61400-11: Acoustic noise measurement techniques). However, on the immission side, that is, the calculation of noise levels and measurement and assessment of noise at receptor locations, less has been done and no generally accepted procedures for estimating the noise immission exist.

The objective of this meeting was to report and discuss noise issues, which potentially can be a barrier to the social acceptance of wind energy implementation.

### PARTICIPANTS / PRESENTATIONS

The meeting was attended by 17 participants representing 9 countries: Denmark, Finland, Germany, Italy, Japan, Norway, Spain, Sweden and the United Kingdom. The participants represented universities, research centres, public organizations and industries. Presentations covered the following topics:

- Long range sound propagation in the atmosphere
  - Modelling
  - Experimental investigations
  - Offshore Wind Farms
  - Meteorological data
- Background noise (wind driven)
- Masking of wind turbine noise

A total of 13 presentations were given:

- 1. Different approaches on noise limits, Sabine Schulz, ENERCON GmbH, Germany (SSz)
- 2. A critical look at the wind turbine noise regime in Norway, Sigurs Solberg, Norway (SSg)
- 3. Measuring and calculating turbine noise immission in the Netherlands, Seppe Hoogzaad, The Netherlands (SH)
- 4. Wind Turbine Sound Issues in Finland Carlo di Napoli, Pöyry Energy Oy, Finland (CN)
- 5. Wind Farms Noise Brief Overview of Assessment and Prediction Methodology in the UK, Rob Shephard, UK, (RS)
- Nord2000 for Wind Turbine Noise predictions, Bo Søndergaard, Delta Akustik, Denmark (BO)

- 7. Long range sound propagation over a sea surface, Ilkka Karasalo, FOI, Sweden (IK)
- 8. Using advanced noise propagation modeling programs in windfarm design, Dennis Siponen, VTT, Sweden (DS)
- 9. Wind farm noise measurements and residual noise estimation by modelling, Roberto Ziliani, ISMES, Italy (RZ)
- 10. Sound emission and sound propagation in forest terrain, Martin Almgren, ÅF-Ingemansson, Sweden (MA)
- 11. Sound propagation models and validation, Conny Larsson, Uppsala University, Sweden (CL)
- 12. Acoustic Noise Measurement, Prof. Arakawa, Univ. of Tokyo, Japan (PA)
- 13. Models of natural background noise and masking of wind turbine noise, Karl Bolin, Royal inst. of Technology, Sweden (KB)

## DISCUSSION

Following the two days of presentations the floor was opened and a general discussion took place. A number of different topics were handled:

- Noise Country Limits
- Long Propagation noise on Offshore Installations
- Procedure for Immission Noise measurement.
- Measured data for validation of Sound Propagation Models
- Background Noise (Masking the noise)
- Future actions under the umbrella of IEA Wind

Bellow is a summary of the discussion:

### Noise Country Limits

Different type of noise limits already exist in several countries. A general feeling is that already existing limits are conservative and protect neighbours of wind installations. In the on going IEA Task 28 "Social Acceptance of Wind Energy Projects", this issue will be elaborated further.

### Long Propagation noise on Offshore Installations.

In Sweden there is an important concern about sound propagation from offshore wind installations. The results obtained using already existing propagation models gives high levels of noise even for wind farms located far away from the shore.

In Denmark, there are not complains about noise in the offshore installations.

The conclusion is that models are predicting higher noise level compared to real values. Work should be done to modify already existing models for noise propagation offshore.

### Procedure for Immission Noise measurement

According with the information presented by the participants, the methodology to measure noise immission is not well defined.

CL stated that more measurements is required of meteorological data during the measurement campaigns, due to the fact that meteorological conditions have an strong

influence in the results measured. It is well known that sound propagation in the atmosphere, is affected by temperature and wind speed gradients. Data required for validating the existing models, need to include extensive meteorological measured data.

The three most significant meteorological effects on sound propagation are: refraction, scattering by turbulence and atmospheric absorption. Meteorological effects were noticeable even at a distance of twenty five metres from the source and increased with decreasing receiver height. (CL).

SSz remarked the necessity of measure wind speed at hub height (near the WT) and at the same time the wind speed at 10 m high level near to the immission site. The wind speed measurement at hub height could be deduced form the WT power production.

The necessity to have guidelines to make noise immission measurements, in the vicinity of wind farms and wind turbine installations was identified.

The statistical treatment of measured data was discussed. More data than mean values of the complete distributions should be presented. In particular high levels should be presented as well as high sound variations.

The noise descriptors are different for the different propagation models. The noise descriptor should be unified trying to give the best information to protect neighbours of the WT noise.

Measured data for validation of Sound Propagation Models

Various propagation models have been developed to estimate the level of noise near residential areas. The availability of validated prognosis models generally accepted by the governmental and local authorities, will help planning new wind turbine installations.

It was expressed the need to have user friendly models public available, due to the fact that already existing models for sound propagation of noise from wind farms, are models usually existing at universities and research centres and not friendly to use (BO).

More measured data available are required to verify the existing sound propagation models. The validation of the models will allow reducing the time of required immission measurements, just needed for comparison with the predictions (RS).

SSz informed that measured data from the new Alpha Ventus Offshore Wind Farm could be available in the future to validate sea propagation models.

### Background Noise

The existing noise environment at potential receiver locations (in the vicinity of a proposed wind farm site) must be properly determined for a representative range of conditions. This requires obtaining sufficient background noise measurements correlated with wind speed at the wind farm site.

It is not an easy task to determine background noise. In Holland standardised values for the background noise are used, while in France they measure the background noise level on the site.

One important question is what should be included in background noise. If it is not just natural sound then the background noise in an area will increase as more and more sound sources (industries, roads, other wind turbines etc) are introduced.

One issue of relevance for judging the effect of a certain immission from wind turbines is the possibility to estimate masking from background noise. In some experiences the high background level noise masks the high level noise produced by the wind turbines, eliminating the problem.

Future actions under the umbrella of IEA Wind

Several options were discussed:

- New Topical Expert Meeting on this subject
- Elaboration of Recommended Practices for Noise Immission Measurement
- New Task on this subject

The participants decided that an additional meeting would be required on the noise immission issue within two years.

BO, convenor of the IEC 61400-11 WG, informed that for the time being there is no specific work inside the IEC to develop standards for noise immission measurement in wind farms. In general the IEC WG produce standards from already existing knowledge, but for immission measurements there is still a need to develop new knowledge, which presently is outside the scope of IEC WG. On the other hand the average time required to produce an IEC standard is 2/3 years.

The participants agreed to elaborate a Recommended Practices document for "Noise Measurement Immission". And Ad-hoc group will be created. Several of the participants expressed their interest to be included in the Ad-hoc group (their main problem is how to finance their participation).

The measurement of the low frequency noise indoors should be included in the scope of the future Recommended Practices.

# List of participants

IEA RD&D Wind Task 11, Topical Expert Meeting Sound Propagation Model and Validation Stockholm 5-6 May, 2009

No	NAME	COMPANY	ADDRESS 1	ADRESS 2	ADRESS 3	COUNTRY	cc	PHONE	E-mail
、-	Bo Søndergaard	Delta Akustik				Denmark			BSG@delta.dk
	Carlo Di Napoli	Pöyry Energy Oy	Tekniikantie 4A	P.O.Box 93	FIN-02151 ESPOO	Finland	358	10 33 24587	carlo.dinapoli@poyry.com
0	Denis Siponen	VTT Technical Research C	Vuorimiehentie 5	P.O.Box 1000	FI-02044 VTT	Finland	358	405 227 458	denis.siponen@vtt.fi
7	Sabine Schulz	ENERCON GmbH	Dreekamp 5	D-26605 Aurich		Germany			sabine.schulz@enercon.de
5	Roberto Ziliani	CESI Spa - ISMES	Via Nino Bixio 39	29100 Piacenza		Italy	39	0523.684258	roberto.ziliani@cesi.it
9	Prof. Chuichi Arakawa	The University of Tokyo	7-3-1 Hongo	Bunkyo-ku	Tokyo 113-8656	Japan			arakawa@mech.t.u-tokyo.ac.jp
	Sigurd Solberg	Kilde Akustik	Tvildesvej 16D		5700 Voss	Norway	47	93016575	sigurd.solberg@kilde.no
3	Eelix Avia	CENER	Urb. La Florida	C/ Somera 7-9, 1 <sup>a</sup>	C.P.: 28023 - Madrid	Spain			favia@cener.com
5,	Mariano Aristu Aguerri	CENER	Poligono Rocaforte parc	31400 Sanguesa	Navarra	Spain	34	948871745	maristu@cener.com
1	) Martin Almgren	ÅF-Ingemansson	Box 1551	401 51 Göteborg		Sweden	46	10-505 84 54	martin.almgren@afconsult.com
<del>,</del>	Conny Larsson	Uppsala University	Meteorology	Villavägen 16	75236 Uppsala	Sweden	46	184717186	conny.larsson@met.uu.se
1	Sven-Erik Thor	Vattenfall Windpower		16287 Stockholm		Sweden	46	8 73 969 73	sven-erik.thor@vattenfall.com
-	Karl Bolin	Royal inst. Of Technology	Teknikringen 8	SE-10044 Stockholm		Sweden			kbolin@kth.se
14	IIkka Karasalo	FOI		164 40 Stockholm		Sweden			ilkka.karasalo@foi.se
15	Seppe Hoogzaad	M+P	Visserstraat 50	Postbus 344	1430AH Aalsmeer	The Netherlands			SeppeHoogzaad@mp.nl
16	Robert Shepherd	Hayes McKenzie,	16a The Courtyard,	Dean Hill Park, West De	Salisbury SP5 1EY	UK	44	1 794 342 343	rob@hayesmckenzie.co.uk
1									
5	ceedings will be distribu	ed to	-			-			

	ea.com		
	nore@hoarel	n@set.hh.se	
	AndrewBullr	eja.pederse	
		Sweden	
		ad	
		30118 Halmst	
		Box 823	
		omi och Te	
		Sekt för Ekon	
	_	almstad	
		Högskolan i Ha	
	ore	<u> </u>	 
a line suine:	ndrew Bullm	ja Pedersen	
LICE	4	ш	

~



Sabine Schulz

Roberto Ziliani

Robert Shephard Seppe Hoogzaad

Sigurd Solberg

Karl Bolin Bo Søndergaard

Felix Avia Conny Larsson

Martin Almgren

Denis Siponen

Carlo Di Napoli

Chuichi Arakawa

Sven-Erik Thor Mariano Aristu Aguerri

Not in picture Ilkka Karasalo